FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/21/2021 10:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98763-7 (COA No. 50400-6-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

FORREST EUGENE AMOS, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

The Honorable James Lawler, Judge (No. 16-1-00399-21)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Presented by:

Forrest Eugene Amos DOC# 809903 Clallam Bay Corrections Center 1830 Eagle Crest Way Clallam Bay, Wa 98326

Pro se petitioner

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Ε.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
	1. Amos's Insufficiency of Evidence Claim6
	a. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Mark6
	b. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Scoby8
	2. Amos's Unconstitutional Shackling Claim10
	a. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Jackson and Clark
	b. Does the unconstitutional shackling of a pro se defendant create a structural error as it undermines the validity of the defendant's choice to represent himself and waive his right to counsel?
	3. Amos's Ineffective Assistance of Counsel/Continuance Claim
	a. Does counsel's failure to meet with a client when specifically ordered to do so by the trial court constitute per se ineffective assistance of counsel?
	4. Amos's Right to Present a Defense Claim
F.	CONCLUSION

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Forrest Eugene Amos, petitioner pro se, asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision referenced in Section B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Amos requests review of the unpublished opinion in **State v. Amos**, No. 50400-6-II, filed on April 28, 2020. A copy of that opinion is attached. See Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it found that the evidence was sufficient to support the forgery convictions although the documents said to be forged was not signed or purported to be the act of someone other than the maker, and did not have legal efficacy because it was simply a "notice" rather than a "negotiable instrument" and did not have the necessary requirements to give the documents legal force and effect in law.

QUESTION: Can a hand-written printed name of another person, purported to be done by the maker himself, be considered a "signature" for the purposes of a forgery conviction?

QUESTION: Can an unsworn statement support a forgery conviction if it does not posses the necessary predicates under RCW 9A.72.085 to give it legal force and effect in law?

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it applied the "substantial or injurious effect" test rather than the "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt" test to the shackling violation where the trial court required Amos to wear a leg restraint during jury trial under a "blanket jail policy," without conducting an individualized inquiry into whether the restraint was as needed, while he was acting pro se.

- QUESTION: Does the unconstitutional shackling of a pro se defendant create a structural error as it undermines the validity of the defendant's choice to represent himself and waive his right to counsel?
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it found that Amos did no receive ineffective assistance of counsel despite the record showing counsel did not comply with the judge's order to make trips to the prison to meet with Amos in order to prepare a defense.
 - QUESTION: Does counsel's failure to meet with a client when specifically ordered to do so by the trial court constitute per se ineffective assistance of counsel?
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it found the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it granted Amos's request to represent himself and denied his motion for a continuance after it allowed Amos to represent himself.
- 5. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it found that Amos did not raise reversible issues in his SAG although it found the trial court abused its discretion by granting the State's motion to exclude evidence regarding legal efficacy and then including it as an element in the jury instructions.
- 6. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it found that Amos's right to present a defense was not violated despite the trial court's ruling regarding the motion in limine for legal efficacy.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Lewis County Prosecutor's Office charged Forrest Eugene Amos with several criminal offenses: (count 1) Forgery; (count 2) Forgery; (count 3) Forgery; (count 4) Forgery; (count 5) Criminal Impersonation in the First Degree; (count 6) Criminal Impersonation in the First

Degree; (count 7) Criminal Impersonation in the First Degree; and (count 8) Criminal Impersonation in the First Degree. The named victim in counts 1 and 5 was Jonathan Meyer. The named victim in counts 2 and 6 was William Halstead. The named victim in counts 3 and 7 was Chad Withrow. The named victim in counts 4 and 8 was Adam Haggerty. All counts included an aggravating circumstance alleging the offenses were committed against a public official in retaliation for them performing their duty to the criminal justice system. Each count also included a "free crime" aggravator allegation. CP 1-5.

These charges stem from Amos executing four three-page pleadings entitled "Forced Commercial Contract" that were subsequently filed with the Lewis County Clerk. CP 31-42. Amos never denied executing the documents. The documents were executed from prison, where Amos is currently serving a sentence under same cause number (No. 13-1-00818-6) in which the four documents were filed.

The first page of the documents gave rise to the criminal charges in this matter. The full heading of the first page reads "Forced Commercial Contract," "Notice of Subrogation Bond [...]," "Clerk's Action Required." Id. Each of these four notices lists public officials in Lewis County that Amos felt wronged him. VRP 151. The first sentence of the Notices is written in the first person: "[name], public servant, [...] do hereby enter myself security for costs in the cause [...]." CP 31-42. The final line of the first page then shows the name of each official printed over a line with the date. Id. The Notice is not sworn under penalty of perjury, but does begin with the "ss" header normally used in affidavits in Washington. See RCW 9A.72.085. The two pages

following the first are pleadings signed by Amos and properly notarized by a notary at the prison. CP 31-42.

Amos was represented by counsel in his case up until one week before trial. VRP 47. Prior to Amos's self-representation, in September 2016, his counsel was "specifically order[ed] ... to make however many trips between [the county] and Clallam Bay Corrections facility as is necessary to properly prepare the defense in this case." VRP 54. Despite this specific order, counsel never made one trip to the prison to meet with Amos. Amos made this clear on June 1, 2017, one week before trial, when he was forced to move for self-representation because of counsel's failure to communicate with him. VRP 39-40.

When Amos moved for self-representation, he made it clear that he felt that he had no other choice because counsel never contacted or visited him at the prison in order to prepare his defense. Supp. VRP 15-16. Based on what was in the attorney-client file when it was given to Amos, counsel never conducted any witness interviews or trial preparations. The court would not accept that Amos kept asserting that he had no other choice but to represent himself because of counsel's deficient performance. VRP 16-18.

The trial court granted Amos's request to represent himself on June 1, 2017, one week before trial. Amos was never informed that he would be required to wear a leg restraint while representing himself before a jury. VRP 43-47. He was returned back to the prison until the morning the trial was set to start.

Upon arriving back to the trial court, Amos sought a continuance because of counsel's lack of preparation. Supp. VRP 15-16. The motion

was denied and he was forced to interview witnesses the morning of trial. Thereafter, the State sought to exclude evidence of legal efficacy and prohibiting Amos from inquiring about it. VRP 62-70. Initially, the trial court granted the State's motion. However, before the State rested its case, the trial court rescinded its ruling when it finally recognized that legal efficacy was an element of forgery and added it into the jury instructions. VRP 234-238, 257.

It was not until the morning of trial Amos became aware that he would be required to wear a leg restraint while he represented himself before the jury. He objected to the use of the leg restraint because it was "awkward" and "prejudicial" because the "jury box [was] ... looking directly at" the side of him the leg restraint was on. VRP 51-52. Also because he had "to get up and like talk to the jury and stuff" and he "never had any kind of eludes or any kind of attempts to do anything." Id. The trial court did not conduct a proper individualized inquiry into whether the leg restraint was needed. Rather than conducting the proper inquiry, the trial court relied on "jail policy" to justify the use of the leg restraint although the court "[did not] think that [Amos was] going to be an issue[,]" calling it "minimally intrusive" because "the only thing that [was] going to happen is [Amos] is going to reach down to [his] knee and hit the release when [he] s[a]t down..." Id. The State later conceded that the trial court abused its discretion and committed error by not conducting the proper individualized inquiry into the need for restraints, but argued it was harmless under the "substantial or injurious effect" test. State v. Amos, No. 50400-6-II. slip opinion at 15-18 (Appendix A). The Court of Appeals agreed.

Amos was found guilty on all eight counts charged. The jury returned verdicts of "no" for the retaliation aggravating factor. Amos was sentenced to 29 months on each count of Forgery which were run consecutive to each other under the "free crime" aggravator for a total of 116 months. The remaining sentences were run concurrently. VRP 408-09. In addition, the court specifically stated that the sentence was to run consecutive to the sentence imposed under a different cause, No. 13-1-00818-6, because the offenses occurred while he was under that sentence. RCW 9.94A.589(2)(a). VRP 408-11. Amos filed a timely appeal. CP 180.

On April 28, 2020, the Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions and sentence in an unpublished opinion. Appendix A (COA unpublished slip opinion). He filed a timely motion for reconsideration which was denied on June 9, 2020. The Washington Supreme Court has granted Amos a number of extensions to file a petition for review which is due on January 21, 2021.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Amos's Insufficiency of Evidence Claim

a. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Mark.

Even though a document may contain a false representation of fact, it is not necessarily forged. This scenario arose in **State v. Mark**, 94 Wn.2d 520, 618 P.2d 73 (1980) when pharmacists drafted false prescriptions but did not forge the physician's signature on them:

[...] a criminal statute which must be strictly construed in favor of the defendant. In writing the doctor's names on his claim form, the defendant represented that they had submitted prescriptions to him, but he did not represent that the doctors themselves had signed the claim forms.

In Dexter Horton, we quoted with approval the following from the case of People v. Bendit, 111 Cal. 274, 43 P. 901 (1896):

"When the crime is charged to be the false making of a writing, there must be the making of a writing which falsely purports to be the writing of another. The falsity must be in the writing itself - in the manuscript. A false statement of fact in the body of the instrument, or a false assertion of authority to write another's name, or to sign his name as agent, by which a person is deceived or defrauded, is not forgery. There must be a design to pass as the genuine writing of another person that which is not the writing of such other person. The instrument must fraudulently purport to be what it is not. And there was nothing of the kind in the case at bar...." 149 Wash. at 348, 270 P.2d 799. Accord: State v. Marshall, 25 Wn.App. 240, 606 P.2d 278 (1980).

Thus, there is a significant distinction between a forgery and a writing falsely representing that the facts which it reports are true. Since the claim forms submitted by the defendant were exactly what they purported to be, it was error to instruct the jury that it could properly find the defendant guilty of forgery, and the Court of Appeals was incorrect in sustaining the convictions on those counts. Id. at 524, 75.

The Supreme Court referenced Mark again in Scoby: "The claim forms at issue in those cases [Mark] were genuine and unaltered, and the pharmacists' signatures were genuine. The forms and the signatures on them were thus exactly what they purported to be." State v. Scoby, 117 Wn.2d 55, 61, 810 P.2d 1358, 1361 (1991).

In this case, the documents were purported to be "notices" that were made by the maker, Mr. Amos. Although those "notices" were falsely represented to be written in the first person, Amos simply hand-printed the names of the four victims on the signature line then properly signed his own name in front of a notary public. He did not sign the names of the four victims before the notary public, nor did he attempt to mimic their "signatures." Therefore, the documents and Amos's own signature before a notary public were exactly what they were purported to be, and

the false representation in the "notices" is not forgery.

Furthermore, there was no design to pass the documents off as a genuine writing of another. This is because the second page of the three page document made it clear that the writing was of the maker, Mr. Amos, and not the writing of another. The documents were also hand written in Amos's own handwriting and did not attempt to mimic the handwriting, or signatures, of anyone other than Amos. When all three pages of the document are viewed as a whole, it makes it very clear that Amos was the maker, not anyone else. Therefore, like the scenario in Mark, the said documents are not purported to be forged.

The Court of Appeals disregarded and misconstrued the principles set forth in Mark when affirming the four Forgery convictions on appeal. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

b. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Scoby.

Although the reference to legal efficacy was removed from Washington's prior forgery statute, the requirement still stands:

[...] the instrument must be "something which, if genuine, may have legal effect or be the foundation of legal liability."

State v. Scoby, 117 Wn.2d 55, 57-58, 810 P.2d 1358 (1991).

In this case, the alleged documents said to be forged did not posses the necessary requirements to give them legal force and effect in law. This is because, as explained in subsection (1)(a) of this Section, the documents did not have what would constitute a "signature" from each of the victims as required by RCW 62A.3-401(a); and, aside from the signature requirement, the documents did not recite that they were certified or declared by the person to be true and correct under penalty

of perjury or state that it was so certified or declared under the laws of the State of Washington as required by RCW 9A.72.085(1)(a)(d) in order to give the documents legal force and effect in law.

As explained in Section (D) of this petition, the Forgery convictions stem from Amos executing four three page pleadings that were filed with the Lewis County Clerk. It was only the first page of those documents which gave rise to the criminal charges. The first page was equivalent to an unsworn statement, therefore, all four requirements in RCW 9A.72.085(1) must be present in the document in order to make it legally binding in an official proceeding. Because all four requirements were not present on the face of the four separate documents said to be forged, the documents cannot be used to form the foundation of legal liability against any of the victims.

Lastly, the documents were simply "notices" and not "negotiable instruments" governed by RCW 62A.3-104. The "notices" contained conspicuous statements, such as, the term "Notice of Suborgation" and the mark "ss" indicating the documents were unsworn statements governed by RCW 9A.72.085. See RCW 62A.3.104(d) ("A promise or order other than a check is not an instrument if, at the time it is issued or first comes into possession of a holder, it contains a conspicuous statement, however expressed, to the effect that the promise or order is not negotiable or is not an instrument governed by this Article"). Therefore, the documents cannot be considered "negotiable instruments," or be considered to have the legal efficacy necessary to support the Forgery convictions charged in this matter.

The Court of Appeals disregarded and misconstrued the principle of

legal efficacy set for in Scoby when affirming the four Forgery convictions on appeal. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

SUBCONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing arguments in subsections (1)(a) and (1)(b) of this Section, the State did not meet its burden to prove every element of Forgery beyond a reasonable doubt as required by the Due Process Clauses of the Federal and State Constitutions. U.S. Const. Amend. 14; Wash. Const. Art. I, Sec. 3.

2. Amos's Unconstitutional Shackling Claim

a. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Jackson and Clark.

To ensure the right to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution, "[i]t is well settled that a defendant in a criminal case is entitled to appear at trial free from all bonds or shackles except in extraordinary circumstances." State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 842, 975 P.2d 967 (1999).

Recently, the Washington Supreme Court addressed concerns of the systematic and routine shackling of incarcerated persons without an individualized inquiry into the need for restraints. State v. Jackson, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020). The Jackson court held "that the trial court abused its discretion and committed constitutional error when it required [the defendant] to be shackled under a blanket jail policy ... without an individualized inquiry into its need." Id. at 855. Furthermore, the Jackson court held "that the State bears the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the constitutional violation was

harmless as set forth in Clark, 143 Wn.2d at 775-76. In doing so, [the Court] disavow Hutchinson's "substantial or injurious effect" test, 135 Wn.2d at 888, because application of the test has resulted in no meaningful remedy for a shackling constitutional violation." Id. at 856.

Earlier, in Clark, the Court opined that:

"[t]he test for harmless error is whether the state has overcome the presumption of prejudice when a constitutional right of the defendant is violated when, from an examination of the record, it appears the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, or whether the evidence against the defendant is so overwhelming that no rational conclusion other than guilt can be reached."

State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 775-76, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001).

Herein, this case is identical to the shackling violation that occurred in Jackson. Like Jackson, the trial court required Amos to wear a leg restraint under a "blanket jail policy" without conducting an individualized inquiry into whether the restraint was needed. Also, like Jackson, the State conceded to the constitutional error but argued the error was harmless under the "substantial or injurious effect" test, which the Court of Appeals agreed because nothing in the record shows that the leg restraint influenced the jury's verdict. Appendix A (unpublished slip opinion at 18).

As explained in Section (D) of this petition, Amos objected to the leg restraint because it was "awkward" and "prejudicial" since the jury box was so close and he would have to get up and down in front of the jury in order to present his case pro se. VRP 51-52. The trial court relied solely on jail policy to justify the restraint use, calling it "minimally intrusive" although it did not think Amos was going to be a problem because he had no escapes or attempts to do anything that would

justify the restraint use. Id.

Since the trial court abused its discretion and committed constitutional error similar to that in Jackson, the Court of Appeals erred when it relied on the incorrect standard to find that Amos's shackling violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Jackson and Clark. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

b. Does the unconstitutional shackling of a pro se defendant create a structural error as it undermines the validity of the defendant's choice to represent himself and waive his right to counsel?

Unlike the circumstances in Jackson, this case presents a unique constitutional question because Amos was acting pro se when the trial court abused its discretion and committed error when requiring him to wear a leg restraint.

It has been a long-standing rule in Washington that the right to appear and defend in person extends to both mental and physical faculties. State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). This is because "they may abridge important constitutional rights, including the presumption of innocence, privilege of testifying in one's own behalf, and right to consult with counsel during trial." State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 398, 635 P.2d 694 (1981). The Jackson Court went further and recognized how the use of restraints has an "unknown risks of prejudice from implicit bias and how [the restraints] may impair decision-making...." Jackson, 195 Wn.2d at 856.

Because Amos was not informed of the possibility of being restrained at trial when he chose to represent himself and waive his

right to counsel, the Court must apply "every presumption against [his] waiver of counsel" and then determine whether the waiver was made knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently." State v. Curry, 191 Wn.2d 475, 486, 423 P.3d 179 (2018). Since the use of restraints can affect Amos's decision making process, it cannot be said that his request for self-representation was unequivocal or voluntarily made at this time.

"A structural error resists harmless error review completely because it taints the entire proceeding." State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 725, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). Such structural error include total denial of counsel, a biased trial judge, racial discrimination in jury selection, denial of self-representation at trial, and denial of a public trial. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). "Each of these constitutional deprivations is a simple structural defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself. Id. at 310.

Herein, the unconstitutional shackling violation becomes a structural error because it completely undermines the validity of Amos's choice to represent himself and waive his right to counsel. Therefore, the entire framework of the trial, in the specific case, was completely tainted by the trial courts abuse of discretion and constitutional error regarding thier decision to make Amos wear a leg restraint while representing himself. Especially, since he was never informed of the possibility when he exercised his right to self-representation and waived his right to counsel. This error is equivalent to an outright denial of both the right to self-representation and the right to

counsel.

This Court should exercise its authority and accept review of this unique constitutional issue presented in this case. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. Amos's Ineffective Assistance of Counsel/Continuance Claims

a. Does counsel's failure to meet with a client when specifically ordered to do so by the trial court constitute per se ineffective assistance of counsel?

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington State Constitution guarantee the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

This case presents a unique constitutional question of whether an ineffective assistance of counsel claim can be per se. The answer should be yes because the record clearly shows that counsel was ordered by the trial court to make trips to the prison to meet with Amos in order to prepare a defense. Counsel acknowledged that he would make the necessary trips to the prison and get with the court administrator about reimbursement. VRP 54. Despite this specific order, counsel never made a trip to the prison to meet with Amos. As a result Amos had no other choice but to move to represent himself.

RPC 1.4 makes it clear that counsel has a duty to communicate with a defendant which requires counsel to keep the defendant "reasonably informed about the status of a matter," and to "explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the [defendant] to make informed decisions regarding the representation." Herein, the trial court felt it was necessary to order Amos's counsel to travel to the prison in order

to prepare a defense because Amos was being housed at the prison, not the county jail. Counsel defied that order which caused Amos to lose confidence in his representation. It also affected his decision to make the choice of self-representation and waive his right to be represented by counsel, therefore, counsel's ineffectiveness should be considered a presumption against the waiver of counsel herein. State v. Curry, 191 Wn.2d at 486 (the trial court must apply every presumption against a defendant's waiver of his right to counsel). It is for these reasons, counsel's ineffectiveness is per se in this specific case.

Furthermore, since counsel's deficient performance ultimately led to Amos making a choice to represent himself one week before trial was set to start, the trial court should have exercised its discretion to grant Amos a continuance so he could properly prepare the defense his appointed counsel failed to prepare. One cannot expect a pro se defendant to prepare a trial defense in one week while he is being housed at the prison and transferred back and forth between court appearances.

This Court should exercise its authority and accept review of this unique constitutional issue presented in this case. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

4. Amos's Right to Present a Defense Claim

Lastly, this case presents one more significant constitutional question: whether Amos was denied his constitutional right to present a defense under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington State Constitution when he was prevented from formulating a defense against legal efficacy throughout

the entire trial before the element was added in the jury instructions toward the end of trial.

By excluding Amos the ability to prepare a defense regarding the legal efficacy of the documents said to be forged, he was prevented from conducting proper examinations of every witness and, more importantly, he was prevented from exploring the possibility of finding a financial expert witness to show the documents in question did not have legal efficacy.

Herein, by limiting Amos's ability to present a defense surrounding legal efficacy clearly prevent him from having a fair trial in this case. This Court should exercise its authority and accept review of this constitutional issue. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

F. CONCLUSION

Amos respectfully asks this Court to accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals decision.