FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/16/2021 2:09 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98763-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 50400-6-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

FORREST EUGENE AMOS,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division One,
And the Superior Court of Lewis County

JONATHAN MEYER
Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney



By:

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office
345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor
Chehalis, WA 98532-1900
(360) 740-1240

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

D. ARGUMENT.

Amos raises an issue for review regarding a conflict with the Court of Appeals determination of his unconstitutional shackling claim and a decision from the Supreme Court. The Court should only accept review in this case for the limited purpose of remanding the case back the Court of Appeals for reconsideration in light of this Court's decision in *State v. Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020). RAP 13.4(b)(1). The remaining issues raised by Amos in his petition do not warrant review by this Court. See RAP 13.4(b).

1. The Court of Appeals' Determination That The State Presented Sufficient Evidence Did Not Conflict With Binding Precedent From The Supreme Court, Therefore Review Is Not Appropriate.

Amos asserts the Court of Appeals' determination that the State presented sufficient evidence to sustain his forgery convictions was based upon its improper application of the law. Amos lifts these two legal arguments, word for word, out of his Opening Brief to the Court of Appeals. See Petition 6-8; Appellant's Opening Brief 5-6. Specifically, Amos argues the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *State v. Mark*, 94 Wn.2d 520, 618 P.2d 73 (1980) and *State v. Scoby*, 57 Wn.2d 55, 810 P.2d 1358 (1991). Amos's argument is without merit. The Court of Appeals properly applied the law when it

determined the State presented sufficient evidence, there is no conflict supporting review.

Amos ignores the standards for a sufficiency of evidence claim and, as he did in the Court of Appeals, spins the facts in a context that ignores the State's evidence. Petition 2-10; *Amos*, Slip Op. 12. The Court of Appeals correctly stated it must "defer to the jury on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and persuasiveness of the evidence." *Amos*, No. 50400-6-II, Slip Op. 12, citing *State v. Andy*, 182 Wn.2d 294, 303, 340 P.3d 840 (2014). Amos's testimony was only one piece of the evidence considered by the jury.

The State acknowledges, as it did in its briefing below, that in *Mark*, this Court held that when a document is exactly what it purports to be, but contains false facts, it cannot be a forgery. *Mark*, 94 Wn.2d at 522-24. Amos's case is distinct from *Mark*. Amos would like this Court to believe all he did was simply present documents that contain false facts, but that is not the case. Yet, when Amos took the witness stand he admitted to assuming each victim's identity when he created the documents. RP 311-12. Therefore, even the Court only considered Amos's own testimony; Amos admitted he falsely made the subrogation bonds purporting to be Jonathan

Meyer, William Halstead, Chad Withrow, and Adam Haggerty. Ex. 2, 3, 4, 5.

Amos also urges this Court to believe the Court of Appeals failed to adhere to *Scoby's* requirement that the documents have legal efficacy. Petition 8-10, *citing Scoby*, 117 Wn.2d 57-58. Yet, legal efficacy is a factual question for the jury, which it determined after being given the correct jury instruction. CP 135 (Instruction 10), *citing* WPIC 130.10. As the Court of Appeals stated in its opinion, a principal-surety relationship can be created without a written contract. *Amos*, Slip Op. 14. The Court of Appeals noted all that is required is mutual assent, therefore the documents were sufficient, if genuine, to "have legal effect or be the foundation of legal liability." *Id.*

This Court should not accept review of Amos's sufficiency of evidence argument. Amos cannot show there is a conflict between the decision of Court of Appeals in his case and decisions of the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. There Is No Unique Constitutional Question To Be Decided By This Court Regarding Amos's Claimed Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Issue Because The Court Of Appeals Correctly Found Amos's Trial Attorney Communication With Amos Met Professional Standards.

Amos argues to this Court that he presents a unique constitutional issue whether an ineffective assistance of counsel claim may be per se. Petition 14. Amos claims, "the record clearly shows that counsel was ordered by the trial court to make trips to the prison to meet with Amos in order to prepare a defense." *Id.* This interpretation of the trial court's order is false, as noted by the Court of Appeals when it cited to the trial court record. *Amos*, Slip Op. 20. The trial court stated, "And I'm specifically ordering Mr. Blair to make however many trips between here and Clallam Bay Corrections Facility as is necessary to properly prepare the defense in this case." RP (11/29/16) 54. Trial counsel was directed to communicate, as necessary, to adequately prepare Amos's defense. *Amos*, Slip. Op. 20. Mr. Blair did not violate a direct order from the trial court by communicating with Amos through means other than face to face contact at Clallam Bay Corrections Center. *Amos*, Slip Op. 19-20.

There is no significant question of law under the United States Constitution, or the Washington State Constitution, as Amos claims. Therefore, review by this Court is not warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. This Court Should Remand Amos's Case Back To The Court Of Appeals For Further Consider Of Amos's Improper Shackling Argument In Light Of This Court's Decision In *State v. Jackson*.

Amos argues the Court of Appeals decision in regards to his improper shackling argument is in conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020). The State acknowledges the Court of Appeals based its legal analysis on prior precedent, as it rendered its decision on April 28, 2020 and *Jackson* was published on July 16, 2020. *Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d 841; *Amos*, COA No. 50400-6-II. Specifically, the Court of Appeals used the "substantial or injurious effect of influence on the jury's verdict" harmless error analysis from *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 888, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998). *Amos*, Slip Op. 16-17. This Court explicitly disavowed the *Hutchinson* analysis in *Jackson* in favor of the standard constitutional harmless error test. *Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d at 855-56.

This Court has previously remanded matters back to the Court of Appeals for consideration in light of opinions it has rendered. *State v. Zimmerman*, 135 Wn. App. 970, 973, 146 P.3d 1224 (2006) (remanding the matter back to the Court of Appeals for consideration in light of *State v. Jackman II*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 132 P.3d 136 (2006)). The only argument at the Court of Appeals was whether the

shackling was harmless error, as the State conceded the trial court had improperly shackled Amos when it failed to conduct an independent inquiry. Brief of Respondent at 15-18. The State argued the harmless error analysis followed by the Court of Appeals, which at the time the State believed to be the correct legal analysis. *Id.* at 17-18. Amos's appellate counsel only argued the shackling was an abuse of the trial court's discretion. Appellant's Opening Brief. 11-12. The Court of Appeals should have the opportunity to decide the matter with the correct legal analysis, and if it so decides it is warranted, request the parties provide further legal and factual analysis to assist the court in making such a decision.

Therefore, Amos is correct, the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d 841, thereby fulfilling the requirement of RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court should grant review for the limited purpose of remanding the matter back to the Court of Appeals for further consideration in light of this Court's decision in *Jackson*.

4. This Court Should Decline Amos's Invitation To Allow Him To Raise An Argument He Failed To Litigate In The Court Of Appeals.

Amos argues his unconstitutional shackling should be considered structural error due to it undermining his ability to make

an informed decision whether to waive counsel and proceed pro se. Petition 12-14. Amos never raised a structural error argument regarding a conflict between his shackling and pro se representation below. See *Amos*, COA No. 50400-6-II, Slip. Op. In addition to appellate counsel's arguments, Amos argued nine statements of additional grounds to the Court of Appeals. *Id.* at 28-44. Amos had ample opportunity and ability to make his structural error argument and failed to do so.

It is the general rule that a party "may not raise a new issue for the first time in a petition for review." *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn.2d 214, 222, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003) (internal citation omitted). This Court should decline Amos's invitation to do so now. The State has already acknowledged the Court of Appeals relied on the incorrect legal analysis when it rendered its shackling decision. The Court should not accept review on Amos's structural error argument and only accept review for the limited purpose of remanding the matter back to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration of the improper shackling in light of *State v. Jackson*.

E. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court only accept review on the improper legal analysis conducted by the Court of Appeals on the shackling issue, as it is in conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Jackson*. The State requests this review be limited to remand the matter back to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration of Amos's improper shackling in light of *Jackson*.

If this Court were to accept review on the other matters or request argument in this case, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.